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Jeannette A. Cohen, Attorney at Law 
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Bellevue, WA 98004 

Lindsay Myatich, Director of Special Education 
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4160 86111 Avenue SE 
Mercer Island, WA 98040-4121 

Carlos Chavez, Attorney at Law 
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In re: Mercer Island School District 
Cause No. 2018-SE-0023 
Docket No. 02-2018-OSPl-00481 

Dear Parties: 

Enclosed please find the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order in the above
referenced matter. This completes the administrative process regarding this case. Pursuant to
20 USC 141 S(i) (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) this matter may be further appealed
to either a federal or state court of law. 

­
 
 

After mailing of this Order, the file (including the exhibits) will be closed and sent to the 
Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction (OSPI). If you have any questions regarding this 
process, please contact Administrative Resource Services at OSPI at (360) 725-6133. 

Sincerely, 

MATTHEW D. WACKER 
Administrative Law Judge 

cc: Administrative Resource Services, OSPI 
Matthew D. Wacker, Senior ALJ, OAH/OSPI Caseload Coordinator 



MAIL D 
JAN 16 2019 

EATTLE-OAH 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

FOR THE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

MERCER ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT 

ospI CAUSE No. 2010-SE-o&

OAH DOCKET NO. 02-2018-OSPl-00481 

F NDINGS OF FACT, 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, 
AND FINAL ORDEB 

A due process hearing in the above matter was held before Administrative Law Judge 
(ALJ) Matthew 0. Wacker in Mercer Island, Washington, over seven days on June 11, 12, 13, 14, 
15, 18, and July 17, 2018. The Parents of the Student whose education is at issue1 

1 In the interest of preserving the family's privacy, this decision does not use the actual names of the 
parents or the student. Instead, they are identified as the "Mother," "Father," or"Parents," and the "Student." 

appeared 
and were reprt:1sented by Jeannette Cohen, attorney at law. The Mercer Island School District 
("the District"} was represented by Carlos Chavez. attorney at law. Also appearing for the District 
were Lindsay Myatich, director of special education, and Erin Battersby, senior director of 
compliance, legal affairs. and human resources. A certified court reporter was also present at the 
due process hearing. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Procedural /-listory 

The Parents filed a Due Process Hearing Request ("the Complaint") on February 27, 2018. 
On March 1, 2018, a Scheduling Notice was entered, setting a prehearing conference for April 2, 
20"18 and a due process hearing for April 16, 2018. On March 9, 2018, the District filed its 
Response to Hearing Request. On March 12, 2018, the parties agreed to waive a resolution 
meeting. On March 15, 2018, an Order Adjusting Decision Due Date and Resetting Prehearing 
Conference was entered. The Order struck the prehearing conference set for April 2, 2018, and 
set a new prehearing conference for March 23, 2018. 

The prehearing conference was held as scheduled on March 23, 2018. On March 30, 
2018, the First Prehearing Order was entered. The First Prehearing Order set another prehearing 
conference for April 16, 2018, struck the due process hearing set for April 16, 2018, set a new 
due process hearing for ,lune 11-15, and 18, 2018, and granted the District's motion to extend 
the due date for a written decision. Pursuant to the agreement of lhe parties, on April 10, 2018, 
the Parents filed a clarification of the issues raised in the Complaint. On May 17, 2018, the 
Second Prehearing Order was entered. The Second Prehearlng Order set out the issues for the 
due process hearing. On May 25, 2018, the Parents filed an objection regarding the statement 
of the issues in the Second Prehearing Order. On May 31, 2018, the Third Prehearing Order was 
entered, granting the Parents' objection. 

--- - ----- -
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t the conclusion of the parties' cases in chief on June 18, 2018, the Parents moved to 
take rebuttal testimony from one witness. Counsel for the District initially objected, and the parties 
were ordered to brief the issue of whether the Parents should be permitted the rebuttal witness. 
On June 22, 2018, the Parents filed their Motion for Rebuttal Testimony. Later the same day, 
counsel for the District informed the Parents and the undersigned ALJ that it would not tile a 
response to the Parents' motion. On June 25, 2018, an Order on Parents' Motion for Rebuttal 
Testimony was entered, granting the motion to t""lke rebuttal testimony. The same C'rdar ~et Jul, 
·17, 2018 to take tha rebuttal testimony. 

Due Date for Written Decision 

The due date tor a written decision in the above matter is the close of record plus thirty 
(30) calendar days. See March 30, 2018 First Prehearing Order. The record of the hearing closed 
with the filing of post-hearing briefs on July 30, 2018. Thirty calendar days from July 30, 2018, is 
August 29, 2018. Therefore, the due date for a written decision in the above matter is August 
29, 2018. 

EVIDENCE RELIED UPON 

The following exhibits were admitted into evidence; 

Joint Exhibits: J1 - J32; 

Parents Exhibits: P1 - P38, P40 - P61, P63 - P68· 

P istrict Exhibits: 01 - 034. 

Tile f oliowing witnesses testified under oath. They are listed in ,rdc-r of their appearance: 

The Mother of the Student; 
Brien Vlcek, M.D.; 
Rachael Kakach, M.EJ., Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCB ' ); 
Danielle Funk, M.A., BCBA; 
Oana Mott, Principai, Dolan Learning Center; 
Anne Uherek, Psy.D.; 
Adrienne Litman; 
Julianne Riccio, District Special Education Teacher, BCBA; 
Noreen Bucknum, District Speech Language Pathologist; 
Kristina Olafsson, District Special Education Teacher; 
Kassi Picci; 
David Breiger, Ph.D., by teleohone; 
Bonnie Barthelme, District Registered Nurse; 
Kathleen Prosch-Jensen, Ph.D., BCBA-D, L.M.H.C.; 
Christine Kenyon, District Special Education Teacher; 
Lindsay Myatich, Ph.D., District Director of Special Education; 
Janet Dolan, M.Ed-, Director and Teacher, Dolan Leaming Center & Learning Center 
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ISSUES AND REMEDIES 

The statement of the issues and requested remedies for the due process hearing is: 

a. Whether the District violated the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and 
denied the Student a free appropriate public education (FAPE) from February 27, 2016 
through February 27, 2018, by: 

i. Amending an individualized education program (!EP) in Ma~1 2016 that: 

a. Did not accurately determine the Student's present levels of 
performance (PLOPs) based upon "data" (goal~progress reports) the 
Parents were given !n the summer of 2017; 

b. Did not include appropriate goals based on the Student's academic 
needs and accurate PLOPs; 

c. Decreased the Student's time in general education classes, thereby 
denying the Student meaningtul inclusion; 

ii. Creating an IEP in November 20i6 that: 

a. Did not accurately determine the Student's PLOPs based on an 
October 2016 reevaluation of the Student; 

b. Did not include appropriate goals based on the Student's academic 
needs and accurate PLOPs; 

c. Did not include an appropriate educational placement for the Student; 

iii. Creating an lEP in December 2017 that: 

a. Did not accurately determine the Student's PLOPs based on an 
October 2017 reevaluation of the Student; 

b. Did not include appropriate goa!s based on the Student's academic 
needs and accurate PLOPs; 

c. Did not correctly allocate time for specially designed instruction (SDI) 
and related services in the Service Matrix; 

d. Did not include an appropriate educational placement for the Student; 

iv. Denying the Parents meaningful participation in the District's reevaluation of the 
Student in October 2017 by: 

a. Failing to timely complete the District's reevaluation of the Student in 
October 2017; 

b. Failing to consider the results of the Parents' April 2017 independent 
educational evaluation (IEE) of the Student by Dr. Uherek; 

c. Failing to consider the recommendations in Dr. Uherek's IEE, from the 
Student's teachers at the Dolan Learning Center and Yellow Wood 
School, and from providers with SBCT; 

d. Denying the Parents meaningful participation in the development 
and/or amendment of the Student's IEPs by not providing the Parents 
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with goal-progress reports for the May 2016 IEP Amendment or the 
November 2016 lEP until the summer of 2017; 

v Denying the Parents meaningful participation in the development and/or 
amendment of the Student's IEPs by not providing them with "data'' (goal 
progress reports) for the May 2016 IEP Amendment or the November 2016 IEP 
until the summer of 2017; 

vi. Drafting a Healt11/Emergency Care Plan for the Student that wa - not .onsiste11 t 
with the medical directives of the Student's treating physician; 

b . And, whether the Parents are entitled to their requested remedies: 

i. An order that the Student was denied FAPE under the IDEP, beyinning 1-ebruary 
27, 2016; 

ii. An order that the appropriate educational placement for the Student for the 2017-
18 and 2018-19 school years is at the Dolan Leaminq Center \Vith appropriat& 
special education and related services and a transition plan; 

iii. An order that the District provide the Student with appropriate speech and 
language services individual! ;, and/or as consultative services; 

iv. Reimbursement to the Parents tor the educational expenses to place the Student 
at Yellow Wood School and Dolan Le ming Center, including transportation, from 
February 27, 20"16 to the present; 

v. Reimbursement to the Parents for co-payments and deductible paym"'nts to 
S8CT for appropriate behavioral services since February 27, 2016; 

vi. Compensatory education for the S-!udent during the 20·19-20 school year rlue to 
ner toss of educational opportunity from .t\ugust 2016 to the present; 

vii. Or other equitable remedies, as appropriate; 

:Jee May "17, 2018 Second Prehearing Order, and; 

Whether the District's October 2017 Reevaluatioil violated the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (IDEA) and denied the Student a free appropriate public education (FA.PE) for the 
reasons identi!ied in the Parents' Dissenting Opinlon.2 

2 The Parenls' Dissenting Opinion appears h the record as .119pp45-72. 

See Mav 31, 2018 Third Prehearing Order. 
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t=JNOINGS OF FACT 

In making these F-indings of Fact, the logical consistency, persuasiveness and plalJsibility 
of the evidence has been considered and weighed. To the extent a Finding of Fact adopts on& 
version of a matter on which the evidence is in conflict, the evidence adopted has been 
determined more credible than the conflicting evidence. A more det~iled analysis ot credibility 
and weight of the evidence may be disc1Jssed regarding specific facts at issue. 

Ge11eral Background 

1. Th8 Student has bP.en fllioible to receive special education and related services under the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA") and has had an individualized education 
program ("IEP") i::ince entering elementary school in the District. J1p1 .3 

3 Citation to the exhibits of record are by party (Joint, Parents, Districts) and by page number. For example, 
citation to J 1 p1 is a citation lo Joint Exhibit 1 at paga 1 }. 

2. The Student qualifies for special education and related services under the Multiple 
Disabilities eligibility category. J1p2, J19p2. The Student has diagnoses including 
encephalo!)athy and Autism Spectrum Disorder. The Student's encephalopathy is manifested by 
intractable epilepsy, dysphasia, verbal dyspraxia, more generalized dyspraxia, and mild to 
moderate intellectual disabiliiy. J1p6, J19p6. The Student's last seizure occurred in September 
2017. O23p2. 

2013-2014 School Year 

3. The Student bega11 attending the District's Islander Middle School ("IMS") for sixth gradd 
during the 2013-2014 s,;hool year. Her special education teacher and case manager was 
Julianne Riccio. Ms. Riccio's special education classroom was one of the District's Personalizet:i 
Learning Program (''PLP") classrooms. Riccio, T741-T742.4 

Citation to the testimony of a witness i3 by last name and page number of the Transcript. For example, 
citation to Riccio, T741-T742 is a citation to the testimony of Julianne Riccio al pages 741 to 742 of the 
transcript. 

Ms. Riccio is a certificated special 
education teacher and a Board Certified Behavior Analyst ("BCBA"}. Id. at T740-T741. 

2014~2015 School Year 

1. The Student remained in Ms. Aiccio's PLP classroom for seventh grade at IMS. 

5. On December 12, 2014, the Student had a behavioral incident at the end of the school 
day, which required Ms. Riccio to implement a "reverse isolation" strategy with the Stuclent. Ms. 
Riccio stayed by herself in the "st,.ident office" with the Student 1ntil the Student calmed down 



enough that the Student could be driven home. Ms. Riccio accompanied tha Student home in the 
ear.5 

5 The Mother would later testify at the due p;ocess hearing that Ms. Riccio's use of reverse isolation was 
one cl the reasons why the PMents requested in August 2016 that the District fund a privata ; lai::ement for 
the Student. See P5pp1 -2. 

Id. at T747-T751. 

6. On January 5, 2015 and again on ,January 12, 2015, the Parents completed Request for 
Part-Time Attendance or Ancillary Services from Private School Student or Student Receiving 
Home-Based Instruction forms. Thls notified the District that the Student would attend school on 
a part-time basis because the Parents would be providing the Student with an in-home Appliec 
Behavioral Analysis {"ABA") program four days a week. P2pp1-4. 

7. The Parents provided the Student v.Jith an in-home ABA program through Seattle Behavior 
vonsulling and Therapy ("SBCT"), a private, contract provide1. Registered Behavior Therapists 
("RBTs") employed by SBCT provided direct J\BA therapy services to the Student in the family 
home. The RBT service providers were supervised by BCBAs. By March 25, 2015, the SIL'd nt 
was reported to be receiving 20 hours of in·home \BA servi';es each week. D1p2, P31p2. 

2015-2016 School Year 

A. The Student remained enrollad parl-tima at IMS for eighth grad during tlie ~015-2016 
school year, and continued to receive her in-home .~BA therapy services through SBCT. 02. The 
Student remained in a PLP classroom, and her spedal education teacher was Kristina Olafsson. 
·,11e Student had a 1 :1 para educator assigned to her. rvls. Olafsson mailed the Student's IEP 
progress reports to the Parents during eighth grade . . P24p9; Olafs, on, T802. 

9. In October 2015, the District conducted a reevaluation of tha Student, and the reevaluation 
team met to consider the results of the reevaluation. Ji. 

i 0. In November 2015, the Student's lEP team developed a new IEP for the Student. The 
Mother was present as one of the IEP team members. J2p3. 

Aoril 2016 IEP Amendment6 

6 The Statement of the Issues and the Parents' Closing Brief ident fy this Amended IEP as the May 2016 
IEP. In fact, the IEP meeting where the IEP a:nendment was developed was held on April 26, 2016. 
Therefore, the amended IEP will be identified herein as the April 2016 IEP Amendment. 

11. By April 2016, the Student had met or mastered the self -rnanagem"'nt goal in her 
t~ovember 2015 IEP. J2p16 (Annual Goal: 3. Self-Managemeni Checklists); J3p3 (Annual Goai: 
3. Self-Management Checklists, Progress of Goels: 04/26/16 "M" or mastered); J4p11 ("[The 
Student] met her self-management goal during the IEP periocl."); J4p31 (5/7/16 Prior Written 
Notice: Goals - Mastered Adaptive Goal #3). 

12. On April 26, 2016, an IEP team meeting was held to consider amending th Student' 
November 2015 JEP. J4p3. The Parents attended as members of the IEP team. Id. 
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13. The Student's IEP was amended by adding new adaptive goals. Changes were also made 
to the services and least restrictive environment ("LAE") sections of the IEP because the Student 
would be moving to Mercer Island High School ("MIHS") during the duration of the amended IEP, 
and to provide the Student with modified grading. J4p31. 

14. The Mother believes this meeting was held to transition the Student to MIHS. Mother, 
T36, T1173. Kristina O!afsson, the Student's special education teacher, convened the IEP 
meeting because the Student had already mastered one goal in her November 2015 IEP, and an 
amendment was required in order to create or add a new goal to the Student's existing IEP. 
Olafsson, T807. 

i 5. The Mother's belief and Ms. Olafsson's stated purpose regarding the reason or reasons 
why the IEP meeting was held can be reconciled. The evidence supports a finding that the IEP 
meeting was held to both add new goals and to address the Student's anticipated transition from 
eighth grade at IMS to ninth grade at MIHS in September 2016. 

i 6. Tt1e Parents believe the April 2016 IEP Amendment did not accurately determine the 
Student's then-current present levels of educational p3rformance ("PLOPs"). See Statement of 
Issues and Requested Remedies. The Parents base their belief on "data" and IEP goal-progress 
reports they would not receive until mid-October 20i 7. 7 

7 Although the statement of issues and requested remedies identifies the Parents as receiving this data and 
progress reporting in the summer of 2017, th:! Mother coniirmed duting her tastimony that the Parents 
received it in mid-October 2017. MotherT122. 

P24pp 1-138. However, other than 
identifying P24 as the Student's progress data they received in mid-October 2017, there is simply 
no evidence of record to establish as fact that the data and goal-progress reports at P24 do not 
accurately determine the Student's PLOPs as of April 2016. There was no testimony from anyone 
qualified by education, training and experience to offer an opinion regarding how the data and 
goal-progress reports the Parents finally received in mid-October 2017 were inconsistent with 
PLOPs in the April 2016 I EP Ame3nciment. 

17. The full school-week schedule at IMS is , ,685 minutes spent in school. J2p24. The 
Student's November 20i 5 IEP at IMS pl£:ced the Student in a special education setting for 1,135 
minutes per week, and in a general education setting for 550 minutes per week. Id. This is the 
equivalent of spending 67.35°/r, of tha school week in a special education setting, and 32.64% of 
the school week in a general education seaing. 

18. The April 2016 amendment to the Student's November 2015 IEP maintained the same 
percentages of time i.1 special education and general education settings for the Student from May 
10, 2016 through June 23, 20i 6, the end of the school year. 

19. The full school-week schedule at MIHS ls 1,875 minutes spent in school. ~14p26. The 
April 2016 amendment to the Student's November 2015 IEP placed the Student in a special 
education setting for 1,247.5 minutes per week upon the Student's entry to MIHS for ninth grade. 
This represented an increase of 112.5 minutes per week spent in a special education setting over 
what the Student had spent in a special education setting at IMS. 
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20. However, due to the longer school week in high school, the Student would spend 627.5 
minutes per week in a general education setting at MIHS, which is 77.5 minutes more per week 
in a general education setting than what the Student spent in general education at IMS. The April 
2016 lEP amendment actually increased the percentage of the school week the Stud-3nt would 
spend in a general education setting from 32.64% at IMS to 33.47% at MIHS. J4p26. 

21. Rachel Kakach has been employee! as a program supervisor with SBCT since February 
20i 6. Among Iler duties, Ms. Kakach supervises RBTs who provide direct therapy services using 
ABA to private clients, conducts initial client intakes, writes and revises client treatment plans, 
and monitors client progress. Ms. K~l<ach earned her Master in Education (M.Ed) degree from 
the University of Washington, with a concentration in special education and ABl\ in 2013. E'he is 
nlso certified as a Licensed Behavior Analyst in Washington State. P66. 

22. However, Ms. Kakach is not certificated in Wasl1ington State as a teacher, and 
affirmatively declared during her testimony that, "I am not a teacher." l<akach, T276, T271. Ms. 
Kakach has never taught in a public school. Kakach, T276. She has no reason to questior, the 
education, training or experience of the District teachers and staff who assessed the Student. 
Kakach, T260-T261. Ms. KakRch has never observed the Student in a Distrlcl setting, or any 
school setting. ~<akach, T282. 

23. Ms. Kakach met the Student in Fc:bruary 2016. Kakach, T197. Ms. Kakach wrote and 
revised treatment plans for the Student and supervised the RBTs who provided direct ABA ­
services to the Student at the family home. At the due process hearing, Ms. Kakach gave 
testimony attempting to compare ti.BA goals developed by her for the Student and the Student's 
progress towards thosa goals, with the Student's IEP PLOPs at the time of the April 2016 iEP 
Amendment developed by the Di&trict Ms. Kakach had no contac! with the Disirict and had no 
input inio dev~lopment of thfl f!0als in the Student's April 2016 IEP amendment. 

24. While Ms. l<akach disagreed with some of the PLOPs associated with some of th 
Student's goals in the April 2016 IEP Amendment, based upon what she determined the Student's 
progress or present level of performc1nce was on the ASA goals she developed for the Student 
{See, e.g., Kakach, T203, T222, T229, T247, T250), many of her attempted comparisons fat! 
short. The majority of he; attempts to compare the Student's performance between tlle SBCT 
ABA goals she developed and the IEP goals were qualified, conditional, or admittedly difficult. 
See, e.g., Kakach, T203 {Goals are "similar"); T217 (Goals are "somewhat similar'); T218 (Goals 
are "not exactly" the same); T222 (SBCT did not have same goal); T227 (Cannot offer opinion on 
Student's reading level).; T227 (No SBCT goal that is equivalent); T279 (''It's hard to compare" 
SBCT goals with !EP goals); T208-T209 (SBGT goal is different than IEP goal); T203 (SBCT \vas 
not working with the Student in a social group - was working 1 :1 with the Student in her home). 

25. Many of the goals ln the Student's April 2016 lEP Amendment and later f\lovarnb~r 2016 
lEP did not have even similar goals in the SBCT treatment plans. See, e.g., Kakach, T222, T223, 
T227, T237, T238, T240, T243, T244, T245, T247-T248. 

26. Ms. Kakach also expressed opinions regarding other aspects of the SBCT ABA program 
provided to the Student in her family home. When Ms. Kakach started working with the Student 
in her home:: ASA progiam, the focus and goals of the ABA therapy were dictated by the Parents, 
not by any evaluation of the Student's needs. It v1as communicated to Ms. Kakach that the 
Parents wanted a program that focused on academic skills, not functional academics or life-skills. 



akach, T262-T263. Eventually, SBCT began to move towards providing ABA services focused 
on functional rather than academic reading. Kakach, T270. However. Ms. Kakach cannot 
determine if the Student had simply memorized stories and questions that had been presented to 
her over and over again, or if the Student had actually increased her reading comprehension. 
Kakach, T292-T294. Ms. Kakach could not determine whether the Student is able to generalize 
what she may nave learned during her in-home ABA program to any school setting. Kakach, 
T282. Ms. Kakach would like to see more of a focus on developing job skills for the Student rather 
than a focus on academic skills. Kakach, T256. Moreover, Ms. Kakach did not coordinate the in­
home ABA program with the services the Student 'Nas receiving at the Yellow Wood School, or 
later the Dolan Learning Center. Kakach, T262-T263, T266. 

27. After careful review of the evidence of record, it is found as fact that, bas0d upon the 
testimony oi Ms. l<akach, the Parents hci.ve not proven by a preponrferance of the evidence that 
the PLOPs in the :Jtudent's April 2016 IEP Amendment or the Student's November 2016 lEP are 
not accurate or do not support the app;opriateness of the goals in either of those IEPs. The 
comparison of the PLOPs and goats in the I EPs to the levels of performance or progress in the 
Stu<ient's in•i1ome ASA program through Ms. Kakach's opinion testimony is not convincing, and 
0ften provided no meaningful information. This attempted comparison is perhaps best 
characlerized as an attempt to compare apples to oranges. See Oist1 ict's Post-Hearing Brief, p. 
'21, fn.15. 

28. Danielle Funk earned her BCBA in December 2017 and is a Licensed Behavior Analyst. 
Funk, T302, T338. She earned a Master of Arts degree in psychology with a specialization in 
ASA through Capella University in 2016. P67. She is presently employed with Maxim Behavioral 
Health Care as R BCBA. Funk, T303. Ms. Funk is not a certificated teacher. Funk, T340. She 
has never observed the Student in a school setting. Funk, T344. In her employment with Maxim 
Behavioral He8ltl1 Care, Ms. Funk has ''a case" with the Seattle 3chool District, apparently 
referring tc working with one student in the Seattle School District. Funk, T36i. 

29. In 2014, Ms. Funk was employed as an RBT with SBCT. She briefly provided direct, in­
h'.xne ABA services to the Student during 2014, and later provided the same services to the 
Student from sometime in 2016 until April 2018. Funk, T303, T339. Ms. Funk supervised !vis. 
Kakach during at least some of the time she provided services to the Student. Funk, T303. 

30. Based on Iler experience providing ASA services to the Student, Ms. Funk opined that it 
is difficult to know if the Student was actually learning the material Ms. Funk was presenting, or if 
he Student was simply repeating back what Ms. Funk was saying to her. Funk, T354. Ms. Funk 

was "not sure" if the Student could generalize the progress she made or the skills she acquired 
through the in-home ABA program to other environments, as she has never observed the Student 
out in the community or at school. Funk, T35 i. 

3·1. As with Ms. Kakach, the Parents attempted to establish through the testimony of Ms. Funl-­
that the PLOPs and/or goals in the Students April 2016 IEP ,1\mendment. November 20"16 IEP, 
and/or December 2017 IEP wer6 not accurate or correct. However, Ms. Funk's testimony suffers 
fr0m the same flaws as Ms. Kakach's testimony regarding those matters, if not to an even greater 
dE:gree. These flaws include attempting to compare an IEP goal :o a social-emotional "skill" Ms. 
Fu;ik worked on with the Student (Funk, T311), atiempting to determine the Student's level of 
reading comprehension based upon different instructional materials which Ms. Funk could not 
identify as being compamble (Funk, T3i5), and asserting the Student could write five full or 
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complete sentences about a picture (Funk, T3i6-T317) when t11e Parents' own independent 
educational evaluation ("IEE") assessed the Student's sentence writing fluency at a kindergarten 
level (J17p19; Sentence Writing Fluency <K.2). Moreover, to a greater degree than Ms. Kakach, 
the majority of Ms. Funk's opinions going to the Student's present levels of performance were not 
based on ref ere nee to SBCT data, but rather appeared to be off-the-cuff estimates in response to 
questions posed by the Parents' counsel. Funk, T312-3 i 3 (Student could understand "a lot" of 
stories); T315 (Estimates the Student got 50% of questions correct}; T321 (Opines Student could 
identify math quantity concepts); T322 (Opines Student did "pretty well" using task lists); T33"> 
(Opines the Student "knows her numbers"); T333 (Opines the Student's mean utterance length is 
'3 lo 5 words). 

32. After careful review of the evidence of record, it is found as fact that based upon the 
+estimony of Ms. Funk, the Parents have not proven by 2. preponderance of the evidence that the 
PLOPs and/or goals in the Student's April 2016 IEP Amendment, November 2016 IEP, and/or 
December 2017 IEP are not accurate or do not support the appropriateness of the goals in those 
IEPs. Tile comparison of the PlOPs and goals in the IEPs to the levels of performance or 
pmgress in the Student's in-home ABi-\ program through Ms. Funk's testimony is not convincing, 
and oftei1 provided no meaningful information. 

 

33. On June 8, 2016, the Student began on overnight video electroencephalogram ("EEG"). 
P30pp17-19. The results of the EEG reflected "an increased risk for focal and generalized 
seizures." Id. p.18. 

34. The Student's pediatric neurologist, Brien Vlcek, M.D., conducted a comprehensive 
edittric neurologic evaluation of the Student on June 9, 2016. In his evaluation, Dr. Vlcek states: 

She recently had overnight EEG study in sleep, con1i,1ued to reveal fairly frequent 
epileptiform discharges. With that likelihood of nocturnal seizures off fC]lobazam, 
likelihood ::if further EEG deterioration in sleep that could result in greater difficultie" 
cognitively and behaviorally, Dr. Sotero recommended continuation of her [C]lobazam and 
Stiripentol combination. 

06p1, P31 p6. 

35. Dr. Vlcek's evaluation noted that H1e Student had proyressed in her abilities to ath::ind, 
concentrate, and focus, vvith a better ability to shift attention, and attributed this to ttle Student 
iJaing on a better "mix" of seizure medications, as well .as an ir11provement in Iler EEG with Jess 
':pileptiform discharges during sleep. D6p2, p3·1 p7. 

36. Or. Vlcek noted in his evaluation that the Parents intended to enroll the Student at Yellm\1 

· ood School during the summer, and opined that the Yellow Wood School program would "fit" 
ihe Student well. Id. However, as best can be determined from the evidence of record, an11 
information Dr. Vlcek had about Yellow Wood School and its program for the Student would have 
comP from th 3 report(s) of the Parent(s). 

Ill/ 

/Ill 
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37. On August 3, 2016, the Parents requested that the District place the Student at Yellow 
Wood School and that the District fund an IEE atthe District's expense.8 

8 Dr. V!cek's reference to Yel!ow Wood Academy and the Parems' request for a placement at Yellow Wood 
::,chool involve the same ent:ty, which will be identified as Ye low Wood School. Yelhw Wood School is a 
private day school. 07p1. 

P5pp1-2 

38. The Parents requested that the District place the Student at Yellow Wood School because 
Ms. Riccio used reverse isolation with the Student in December 2014, because the Student had 
started her in-home ABA program with SBCT, which the Parents believed had improved her 
behavior, and because the Mother believed the Student was still too fragile and unstable to attend 
MIHS with a schedule like she had at IMS. Mother, T31, T33-T34, T1174-1175. 

39. The District acknowledged the Parents' request for a placement at Yellow Wood School 
the same day in a letter to the Mother from Lindsay Myatich, Ph.D., the District's director of special 
education. In her letter to the Mother, Dr. Myatich also explained that the District would need to 
conduct a reevaluation of the Student to determine if a more restrictive private school placement 
was required. D7p1. 

40. On August 4, 2016, the Parents signed a written consent for the District to conduct a 
reevaluation of the Student. J7p2. 

41. The District informed the Parents that it wns rfafusing to initiate an IEE at the District's 
expense in an August 24, 2016 Prior Written Notice ("PWN"). J8. 

42. -After receiving the PWN, the Mother informed the District that the Parents were initiating 
an IEE at their own expense v 1ith Anne Uheret<, Psy.D.9 

9 Dr. Uherek's curriculum vitae appears in the record as P26. 

The IEE with Dr. Uherek began in 
September 2016. P6p1. 

The 2016-2017 School Year 

43. The Student entered ninth grade at lvllHS for the 2016-2017 school year. The Student's 
special education teacher in the PLP classroom was Christine Kenyon. Ms. Kenyon was also the 
Student's case manager regarding her soecial education. Kenyon, T1284. 

44. During September 2016, the Pments unilaterally placed the Student at Yellow Wo-:,d 
School for three hours per day in the afternoons, while the Student continued her in-home ABA 
program with SBCT during mornings. The Parents allowed the Student to attend MIHS for only 
three hours per week on Fridays from 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.rn., so the District could conduct its 
reevaluation of the Student. Mother, T40; P9, D10. 

45. Dr. Vlcek conducted anothe; comprehensive pediatric neurologic evaluation of the 
Student on September 6, 2016. ln his evaluation, Or. Vlcek opined that the Student appsared to 
have made some very slow progress in some of her cognitive skills with the intensive therapies 
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and interventions she was receiving. He also remarked that Parents and some of Student's 
therapists were "quite disappointed" with the Student's program at MIHS. Di 2p2, P31 pi 0. 

46. Dr. Vlcek stated in his evaluation that in addition to the Student's attendance at Yellow 
Wood School, there "will be continuation of and clearly needed home ABA therapy 20 hours a 
week". Id. 

47. As can best be determined from the evidence of record, as of September 2016, any 
information or knowledge that Dr. Vlcek had about the Student's IEP at MIHS, and the opinions 
of any of her other therapists, would have come by and through the Parents' reports to him. 

48. Dr. Vlcek also noted there would be no school nurse on staff at the Yellow Wood School, 
and that in the past the Student needed a nurse present at school in order to administer Diastat, 
the Student's prescribed medication to treat any seizure the Student might have while attending 
school. However, as of September 20·16, it was Or. Vlcek's opinion that it was no longer medlcally 
necessary to have a nurse on staff at Yellow Wood School, or at a public school. Id. 

49. In a letter To Whom It May Concern dated September 8, 2016, Dr. Vlcek set out his 
emergency medicai plan in the event the Student had a seizure while at school. In part, the plan 
provided that if a nurse was available, the nurse could administer rectal diazepam. 10 

1~ Diastat is a form of diazepam. 

If no nurse 
were available, a medic responding to a 911-cal! could administer the medication. P31p17. The 
District received Or. Vlcek's emergency medical plan for the Student. 011. 

50. In a September 20, 2016 PWN, the District confirmed that it had received notice from the 
Parents that they were revoking consent for the Student to receive special education services in 
the District. In response, the District acknowledged it would no longer provide tt,ose services for 
the Student. P11pp1-2. 

The October 2016 Reevaluation 

51. A meeting was held on October 18, 2016 to consider the results of the District's 
reevaluation of the Student The Parents attended as part of the reevaluation team. 

52. The Mother provided input for the reevaluation, including her summary of data and the 
Student's progress with her in-home ASA therapy through SBCT. Mother, T121; J10p9. 
However while the reevaluation report references her input, the Mother does not believe her input 
was considered because it did not change the reevaluation report. Mother, T1188. 

53. The reevaluation report also included information from five staff members at Yellow Wood 
School. J1 Opp 10-12. 

54. The Parents would ultimately reject the reevaluation report (see P13p1) because, although 
the Parents had been rec2iving IEP goal progress reports for the Student (J12) , the Mother 
balieved she did not have the underlying "bacfrnp data" from the District documenting any 
progress the Student may have mad0 when the Student did attend school. Lacking such backup 



data, the Mother believed she could not meaningfully participate in the reevaluation meeting. The 
Parents also cited their ongoing IEE with Dr. Uherek as a reason to reject the reevaluation report. 
P13. 

55. After the reevaluation meeting, the report was revised. 11 

11 It does not appear that the draft of the reevaluation report is present in the racord. J10 appears to bathe 
reevaluation report after the post-meeting revisions were made. 

The revisions were made through 
e-mail and telephone contacts between the Mother and Michael Neff, the District School 
Psychologist in charge of the Student's reevaluation. The revisions included the Mother's report 
of the Student's progress in her ABA program, additional medical information for the Student, 
updates to the adaptive and transition sections of the report, and a geography teacher's report 
from Yellow Wood School. J11. 

56. Via email on November 10, 2016, the Parents informed the District that they disagreed 
with the District's reevaluation of the Student, and that they were requesting an IEE at the District's 
expense. P12. 

The November 2016 IEP 

57. An lEP team meeting was scheduled for November 15, 201 6, to discuss transitior se, vices 
and annual goal progress; review the Student's current IEP, instructional needs and behavioral 
intervention plan; ancl determine the Student's placement. J13p1. 

58. On November 7, 2015, the Mother had a pre-lEP meeting with Ms. Kenyon, the Student's 
special education teacher. P13p1, Ji 3p33. Ms. Kenyon sent the Mother her drait of an IEP for 
the Student before the meeting. Kenyon, Ti 292. 

59. Ms. Kenyon developed the goals in the draft IEP based in part upon information she was 
able lo gather during the ver~/ limitEtd, three hours per week each Friday when the Student 
attended her PLP clazs at MIHS. Kenyon, T1296-T1297. Ms. Kenyon also based the draft IEP 
goals on information provided by staff at Yellow Wood School. J13pp9-11. 

~0. Ms. Kenyon also prepared an agenda for the November 15, 2016 IEP meeting, as was 
her standard practice. Id. T1294. 

61. Tho IEP meethq v1as held on November 15, 20i 6. The Parents were oresent as team 
members. At the Parents' request, Jed Miley, the dean of Yellow Wood School, was present. 
Mother, T1184. Ms. Kenyon, Noreen Bucknum, a District speech-language pathologist (SLP), 
and Dr. rvlyatich also attended the meeting. J13p5. 

62. The Parents told the other team members that they disagreed with the PLOPs and goals 
in tile draft lEP. The Mother provided her input during the meeting. Mother, T1179. 

83. The team discussed Ms. Kenyon's agenda and the PLOPs and goals in the IEP. Myaiich, 
T1325. 

------ --
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64. At the meeting, the Parents gave the District team members a written statement of their 
disagreement with the October 2016 reevaluation of the Student. P,3. 

65. The Parents' intent in biinging the Student to the District was to have her educated, which 
they consider to be provision of academic instruction, not to work on job skills. Id. 

66. The District notified the Parents at the meeting that it was approving their request for an 
IEE at the District's expense. Ji 4p1. 

67. In a PWN dated November 16, 2016, the District informed the Parents that it was 
proposing to initiate the IEP, and that the District was rejecting the Parents' proposed placement 
of the Student at Yellow Wood School in part because it could provide an appropriate placement 
for the Student in a PLP classroom MIHS. J13p33. 

68. In a second PWN dated November 16, 2016, the District informed the Parents that it was 
granting their November 10, 2016 request for an IEE at the District's expense. J14. 12 

1·' Whlle the P\'VN identifies the Parents' IEE request as occurri;ig on November 9, 2016, the email in which 
th" Parents made the request was dated November 10, 2016. P12. 

69. In an email on November 17, 2016, the Mother informed Ms. Kenyon that the Parents did 
not agree with the goals in the IEP that were based 0:1 the Di"'trict's reevaluation of the Student, 
which they also rejected. Pi 4. 

70. On December 8, 2016, counsel for the Parents sent a letter to the District. Parents' 
counsel informed the District that the Parents rejected the iEP, and that the Parents believed an 
individualized one-on-one propram at Yellow Wood School would "more appropriately suit her 
needs.'' The letter \'Jent on to inform the District that until the Parents could reach an agreement 
with the District on the Student's lEP, the Student ~vould no longer attend MIHS. 015. 

?•i. The Student last attended school in the District on December 15, 2016. 027, D19p2. 

72. Dr. Vlcek conducted another comprehensive pediatric neurologic valuation Jf the 
Stuaent on January 3, 2017. Dr. Vlcek stated in his evaluation that: 

Parents feel.:; {sic) that...she had made significant more progress fat Yel!ov.' \'Vood) than in 
w:iat is able to be offered or done in publ:c school in a special education ... ii would appear 
that the school district is not able to provide the program she needs in terms of ABA therc:py 
and 1,•;hat is abl3 to be provided at Yellow Wood School. 

e3 i p23. As before, it appears that whatever information Dr. Vlcek had regarding the District's 
proposed placement, the Student's in-home AB.A therapy, and the Student's program at YPllow 
Wood School would all have come from the Parents' reoort~. 13 

13 Or. \/leek's evaluation also noted the Student attended MIHS for a hali-day on Fridays. Th!s cannot be 
true, given ihe St1Jdent last attended MIHS on December 15, 2016. This error ,-;ontinues in another 
comprehensive pediatric neurologic evaluation dated March 23, 2017. See D18p1, P31p29. The same 
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Dr. Uherek's IEE 

73. On March 9, 2017, Dr Uherek sent the Parents a draft of her IEE report for the Student. 
Dr. Uherek suggested the Parents meet with her to discuss the report. 016. 

74. Dr. Vlcek conducted another comprehensive pediatric neurologic evaluation of the 
Student on March 23, 2017. He noted that that EEGs obtained in June 2016 reflect the Student 
"clearly still having a significant ease or tendency to have seizures." 018p1, P31 p29. Dr. Vlcek 
noted that the Parents provided him with a copy of Dr. Uherek's IEE report for his review. Dr 
Vlcek opined that: 

[F]rom a neurologic perspective and the health impaired status, I would concur and agree 
with all of the recommendations made by Di. Ucherek (sic) ... [The Student] needs a 
relatively specialized program implementing all the recommendations from Dr. Ucherel< 
(sic) ... l feel very unlikely that public school is going to be able to provide such a program 
for her. 

O18p2. P31p30. Dr. Vlcek noted in his evaluation that he beliaved it the Student was in a noisy 
environment that required a lot o1 change and transitions where there were many distractions, 
she could easily get overstimulated and overwhalmed and 1t would impact her executive 
functinning. The Student would also be at grer1ter risk for having a seizure. Id. 

75. On March 25, 2017, Dr. Uherek sent the Parents her "updated" IEE repdrt. D17. 

76. Dr. Uherek conducted her IEE of the Student beginning in October 2016. J17. The 
Student was almost 151/2 years old. Dr. Uherek intnvlewed the Parents and conducted multiple 
standardized assessments and observations of the Student. Dr. Uherek ultimately diagr.osed the 
Student with an Organic Mental Disorder, v1hich was a2sociated with her epilepsy, a miid-to­
mQderate intellectual disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, an auditory processing disorder, n 
language-1.Jased learning disability, ~nd s Development8I Coardination Disorder. Id. at pp. 10-12. 

71. Or. Uherek then made recommendations for th"'1 Student including: a highly individualized 
and self-paced instructional program; reteaching; a quiet environment for direct instruction; 
intensive behavior intervention using a data-driven /\BA program; intensive speech and language 
services; visual supports in the classroom; avoiding timed tests; use of assistive technology to 
write/communicate; specific coaching in social skills with peers and adults; and a focus on 
functional reading and math. Id. at pp13-16. Dr. Uherek made no recommendation about limiting 
the number of transitions the Student would have dur1ng a school day. 

78. The Parents asked Dr. Uherek to recommend placing the Student at either Yellow Wood 
School or the Dolan Learning Center, but Dr. Uhere:, declined to do so. Mother, T1192-T1193. 

79. Although the exact date is not clear from the record, sometime between the April 2017 
and August 2017, the Parents transitioned the Student from Yellow Wood School and enrolled 

error appears in an SBCT Treatment Plan dated March 20, 2017. See P61 p1 (The Student attends Mercer 
Island High School one morning a week and is educated in a S<;lf-contained classroom). 
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her at the Dolan Learninp Center. See Mother, T142, Ti 198. The Dolan Learning Center is a 
state•approved Non-Public Agency ("NPA"}. 

80. The Parents removed the Studant from Yellow Wood School because it did not pre sent 
the Parents with data to show the Student's progress, and it did not have staff trained to collect 
the data required for precision teachinq. 14 

14 Although identified as precision "teaching," precisbn teaching is not an educational methodology. It is a 
"measuring tool" to track progress on a given task. Doran, T1419 

The Parents placed the Student at the Dolan Learning 
Center because it uses fl hybrid of precision leRching and ABA, and because SBCT wanted to 
begin to focus more on adaptive and life-skills rather than continuing to focus on academic.:: . 
Mother, T1198-T1199, T14°1. 

81. The District first received a copy of Dr. Uherek's IEE report by email on April 17, 2017. 
Myatich, T1381. 

82. In May 2017, the Mother had a meetina at the District with Dr. Myatich to review Dr. 
Uherek's IEE report. Dr. Uherek was also present at tha meeting. Ullimately, Dr. Myatich 
proposed conducting further evaluations of the Student because some of Or. Uherek's 
recommei1dations at the meeting were presented more strongly than they appeared in her report, 
including that the Student required a setting like the Dolan Leaming Center with ABA and 
precision teaching. Myatich, Ti330-Tl332. 

33. On or about May 16, 20i7, the District sent a Revaluation Notification/Consent documen~ 
to the Parents. This informed the Parents that the District was seeking to conduct a reevaluation 
of the Student in the following areas: review of existing records, audiology, social/emotional, 
behavior, academic, fine motor, observation, meclical~physical, adaptive, cognitive, 
communication, gross motor, vocational, and age appropriate transition assessment. J15p1. 

84. One of the Parents signed the document on May 16, 2017. Although the box next to the 
,talement, "I give consent for my child 10 be evaluJ.ted" was checked, the Parent(s) in::::tucled the 
following restrictions on their consent to reevaluate the Student: 

Permission given to exchange ol reports and information. Observations with academy to 
be pm arranged {sic} with school aml family. SLP/OT/PT evaluations are approved. Any 
other direct evaluations with [the Student] need adJHional approval. 

J15p.:'.. 

85. The Parents' consent to rnevaluate the Studant is manifestly inco11sistent with wh:..t the 
District was proposing. By their own language, the Panmts were refusing consent to reevaluate 
the Student in multiple areas the District identified as p=.irt of the scope of its intended revaluation. 

86. In a PWN dated May 18, 2017, the District stated, 'Tile parents provided the Disirict with 
consent to reevaluate on 5/16/17 and requested an assessment plan prior to bringing .{the 
Student] to the District for an evaluation by District staff." J16.15 

- ------ -----

15 In its Post-Hearing Brief, the Distrii::t argued the Parents did not prove that they provided the District with 
their consent on the same day one of the Parents signed the Revaluation Noiification/Consent document. 
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87. There were 19 District school days between May 16, 2017, and the end of the 2016-2017 
school year. D34p2. 

88. The District first proposed to meet on August 29, 2017 and hold a reevaluation meeting, 
but Dr. Uherek, whom the Parents wanted to attend the meeting, was unavailable. Or. Uherek's 
first availability was September 12th or 13th • 020. This was followed by further delays caused by 
Dr. Uherek. 021. 

2017-2018 School Year 

89. From tha start of the :::017-2018 school year to October '11, 2017, there were 29 District 
school daya. 034p3. 

90. On September 30, 2017, the Student had a generalized tonic clonic seizure. f he seizure 
was terminated with three doses of Diastat. 023p3. The Student had 12 more similar seizures 
over the next 24 hours. Prior to this, the Student's last cluster of seizures occurred in May 2014. 
D23p2. 

Dr. Breiqer's NeuropsychologtQ.al Evaluatior:i. 

91. As part of the further evaluation of the Student, the District contracted with David Breiger, 
Ph.D. 16 

16 Dr. Breiger's curriculum vilaa appears in the record as D32. 

Dr. Breiger relied, in part, upon some of the standardized assessments Dr. Uherek had 
administered to the Student as part oi her IEE, as well as conducting additional assessments, 
clinical interviews, and a records review. The goal of the evaluation vvas to provide 
recommendations regarding the Student's academic planning and to help develop educational 
recommendations. J18p2. 

92. With respect to her raading comprehension, Dr. Breiger determined the Student could not 
correctly identify answers with reading material that was at the Primer Level. 17 

17 The Primer Level is below a first-grade lavel. Breiger, T903. This result was consistent with Dr. Uherek's 
assessment of the Student's reading comprehension. Id. at p. 904. 

Dr. Breiger 
concluded il1at the Student was not currently performing at the same level she did with repetitive 
practice of the same material. J18p5. He also concluded that it was '·erroneous to believe that a 
p.:uticular approach to leaming or teaching will increase performance if only applied wirh enough 
trials." Jd. This means that simply repeating something enough times, similar to an ABA 
methodo!ogy, will not lead to the Student acquiring more complex or abstrsct concepts. Breiger, 
T905-906. 

93. Dr. Breiger's recommendations notecl that: 

[The Student] will likely require a learning space that has reduced .:.listractions and activity 
level when compared to same-age peers ... Acadernic goals should be developed in order 

See District's Post-Hearing Brief, p. ?.9. Given 1he PWN and ils contents, which could only have come from 
the District, that argument is meritlsss. 
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to help [the Student) become more indapendent across several settings ... Data should b& 
kept on a frequent basis in order to track progress and in order to make adjustments ... 
Technology should be explored ... As Dr. Uherek and Dr. Vlcek have both pointed out, 
intervention to help with the development of social, functional communication and adaptive 
behavior is important...Educational interventions of al! kinds should incorporate the concept 
of generalization into the planning and implementation." 

Id. at p6. 

94. Dr. Breiger's recommendation for a learning space that has reduced distractions and 
activity level when compared to same-age peers does not mean that such an environment cannot 
be provided in a public-school setting. Breiger, T908. Such a learning space could be an office 
or a study carrel. Id. at T907. Dr. Breiger has observed the District's PLP program at MIHS. 
Myatich, T1332; Breiger, T916. 

95. The District received Dr. Breiger's evaluation report on October 10, 2017. tviyatich, T1338. 

96. The severity of the Student's intellectual disabilities indicates she wi!i have significant and 
likely profound difficulties in all aspects of functioning, including cognitive functioning, learning, 
memory, attention and the ability to solve novel problems. Breiger, T905. Focusing on academics 
or a particular academic level will not be as helpful to the Student as focusing on what she will 
need to do to function as independently as possible when she finishes school. Id. at T909. 

97. Generalization refers to an individual taking whats/he has learned in one setting and being 
able to use it in a different setting. Generalization is one of the most difficult concepts for 
individuals on the autism spectrum and for individuals with intellectual disabilities to demonstrate. 
One criticism of ABA in the literature is that generalization does not occur easily across 
environments. This may account for the different reports of how well, for instance, the Student is 
able to comprehend what she reads in her in-home ABA program and the assessment of her 
reading comprehension by Dr. Uherek and Dr. Breiger Id. at T911-T912. 

Qr. Prosch-Jensen's Educational Recommendations 

98. The District contracted with Or. Kathleen Prosch-Jensen to provide recommendations for 
the Student's educational program as part of the District's reevaluation of the Student. 18 

19 Dr. Prosch-Jensen's curriculum vitae appears in the record as D33. 

Among 
her other professional credentials, Dr. Prosch-Jensen holds doctorate-level certification in ASA. 
033. Or. Prosch-Jensen provides instruction in Precision Teaching to her students as part of her 
graduate-level curriculum at the University of Washington. Prosch-Jensen, T1030, T1034. There 
is no substantial research to confirm that the use of Precision Teaching is effective for individuals 
on the autism spectrum. Precision Teaching was desipned for adult literacy instruction, and then 
later modi1ied for use with individuals with dyslexia, dysgraphia, dyscalculia and other types of 
academic problems. Id. at T1035-T1036, T1078. 

99. Dr. Prosch-Jensen was familiar with the Student from meeting her when she was attending 
the District's Islander Elementary School and later IMS, and providing consultafon and training 
for the Student's classroom staff. Prosch-Jensen, T996-T997; P20p1. 
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100. As part of developing her recommendations for the Student's placement, Dr. Prosch­
Jensen conducted obseivations beginning in late May and early June at Yellow Wood School, 
the Dolan Learning Center, and in the Student's home ABA therapy with SBCT. D22p2. Dr. 
Prosch-Jensen also conducted a records review and interviewed the Parents, Dr. Myatich, a 
teacher at the Dolan Learning Center, and Dr. Breiger. Id. at p1 

101. The Mother requested to meet with Dr. Prosch-Jensen to review the results of her 
observations, analysis of progress data, and educational recommendations for the Student. The 
meeting was held on October 3, 2017. P19pp1-2. 

102. In preparation for the meeting, 01. Prosch-Jensen compiled her analysis to date and 
provided it to the Mother. 022. 

103. Dr. Prosch-Jensen's final analysis of her dnta and program recommendations for the 
Student was produced in a 21-page report dated November 9, 2017. J20. It included a review of 
Dr. Uherek's JEE report, Dr. \/leek's clinic notes, and multiple records from Yellow Wood School, 
SBCT, and the Dolan Learning Center. J20p1. 

104. The report considered the Student's strengths and interests, needs and concerns, 
neurodevelopmental disorders, behavior, dai!y life, cognitive, academic and adaptive skills, 
language, and school program at MIHS. The report sy.sternaticaliy examined all of the tasks and 
activities Dr. Prosch-Jensen observed across all the different environments and then provided an 
analysis of her observational and progress data. Based on her analysis of all that information, 
Dr. Prosch-Jensen finally made detailed program recommendations for the Student's program 
and personnel, daily schedule and activities, instructionai strategies, accommodations, 
modifications and supports, and placement. J20. 

105. Dr. Prosch-Jensen's report is cornpmhensive; and thorough. Her analysis of all the data
she compiled is logical and compelling. More than any of ths many expert witnesses who gave
testimo,iy, Dr. Prosch-Jensen's explanation of her report and program recommendations at the
hearing was pa;ticularly nuanced, and reflected a deep Ui1derstanding of the impacts of the
Student's disabilities on her education. Her educati.:,n, training, 21nd experience, particul3rly her
Lloctorate-level certification in ABA, in combination with her long history of familiarity with the
Student, provided Dr. Prosch-Jensen with the most applicable and compelling professional
framework from 1,1hich to make recommendations for the Student's educational program. Dr. 
Prosch-Jensen's opinions regarding program recommendations for the Student are given great
weight. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Octuber 2017 Reevaluation 

106. A reevaluation team meeting was held on October 1 i, 2017, to consider the results of the 
Student's reevaluation. J 19. The Parents were sent a draft of the reevalu-ation repor1 and draft 
IEP before the meeting. Myatich, T, 337. Or. Breiger appeared by telephone. Prosch•Jensen, 
T1001; Myatich, T1337. Dr. Uherek was present at the meating, as were tha Parents. Mother, 
T163-T164; Myatich, T1336. Dr. Prosch-Jensen "walked through" her draft report. Prosch­
Jensen, T1001. Other members of the team reviewed 11igh!ights of their assessments, including 
Dr. Breiger. Myatich, T1339. Or. Uherek agreed with the recommendations tor the Student's 
education in Dr. Breiger's and Dr. Prosch-Jensen's reports. Uherek, T 486-T49i. The team 

Fin1ings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Ordar Office of Administrative Hearings 
OSPI Cause No. 2018-SE-0023 One Union Square, Suite 1500 
OAH Docket No. 02-2018-OSPl-00481 600 Univarsily Street 
Page 19 Seattle, WA 98101-3126 

(206) 389-3400 1-800-845-8830 
FAX (206} 587•5135 



determined that the Student remained eligible for special education. The meeting lasted 
approximately 3 hours. Myatich, T1342. 

107. On November 9, 2017, Or. Prosch~Jenseri produced her final analysis of her data and 
program recommendations for the Student. J20. Her final analysis and program recommendations 
included information the Mother provided both at and after the reevaluation meeting. Prosch­
Jensen, T1001 . 

108. Tl1e Motller agrees with all of Dr. Proach-Jensen's recommendations for the Studeni's 
education, except that the Mother believes those recommendations should be implemented in a 
smaller, less stressful environment ~1ith fewer tr::insitions than MIHS, like the Dolan Learning 
Center. Mother, T11 l9-T1123. 

The November 2017 IEP 

109. An IEP team meeting v,as held Novernber i5, 201i. D25p2, P22p·1. (he Parents 
attended along with tl1elr attorney, Jeannette Cohen. Mother, T1206. 

110. in an email on November 21, 20"17, the Parents informed the District that they disagreed 
with the District's reevaluation of the Student, and that Ms. Cohen would be filing the Parents' 
·'dissenting notice."19 

19 Th'3 Parents' dissenting notice to the October 2017 resvaluation was finally received from Ms. Cohen by 
the District's counsel on April 9, 2018, nearly six months after the reevaluation meeting. See J 19pp45-72; 
D31 pi. 

P22p1. In ihat same email, the Parents requested clarification and 
"idditional explanation regarding portions of Dr. Prosch-Jensen's Final Program 
Recommendations for the Student. Id. at pp, -5. 

111. A second IEP team meeting was held on November 29, 2017. J22p1, p3. The Parent; 
again attended with ihelr attorney. ivlother, T1'206. Janet Dolan, founder of the Dolan Learning 
,\cademy, attended the meeting along wHh Dr. tv'iyatich, Dr. Prosch-Jensen and others. J22p3. 

112. The goals in the draft lEP v,ere discussed at length. Prosch-,lensen, Ti 022. The Pl.OPs 
in the draft !EP were discussed and some were updated. Id. at Ti023. There were no 
disagreements regarding the PLOPs or goals raised at the meeting. Myatich, T1346. The team 
proposed to implement the Student's IEP at MIHS, and the Parents agreed to an observation a1 
MIHS to see it it would meet the Student's needs. Id. at T1025. The team also determined that 
a school nurse was the appropriate rBsponsible adult to accompany the Student on her school 
bus. Myatich, T1347-T1348. 

·, i 3. Via e-mail on November 21, 2017, the P;::1rents inforn1ed the District of their multiple 
concerns regarding the Student's IEP. P22. 

114. On November 30, 20i 7, Dr. Myatich provided the Parents with a copy of the final IEP via 
e-mail. 025. 
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115, On December 1, 2017, the Parents informed the District via e-mail that they disagreed 
Nith the IEP, they would send their dissenting opinion the following week, and they planned to file 
for a dua process hearing by the end of the year. D25ppi -2. 

116. After the Parents expressed some concern at the IEP meetings about what the Student'~ 
daily schedule would loo!< like were she to return to MIHS, Or. Prosch~Jensen created a "Proposed 
Schedule with Activity Matrix." Myatich T1350; Prosch-Jensen, Ti 025; J23. The schedule was 
intended to provide an example of lhe activities in which the Student could participate, and wl :en 
her lEP goals would be addressed within that schedule. The schedule was nol intended as a final 
schedule, but only as an example. Some of the activities could change based on parent input, or 
,eacher, therapist and building schedules. The schedule included a description of activities for 
the Student, the IEP 9oals that would be addressed during and across those activities to promote 
generalization of learnrng, c:1nd the proportion of minutes of specially designed inBtruction. The 
schedule also notad th&t the Student would have access to quiet learning spaces at any time, for 
focused work or rest, depending on her needs. Id. at p.1. 

1 i7. As with Dr. Pn.1sch•Jensen's earlier work, which produced her final Program 
Recommendations for the Student (J20), the proposed schedule at MIHS reflects a carefully 
considered and compelling explanation from a very well qualified and experienced professional 
who is knowledgeable about the impacts of the Student's disabilities on her education, and the 
District's programs and facility at M!HS. Dr. Prosch-Jensen's proposed schedule showing how 
the Student's IEP could be implementetl at MIHS is given great weight. 

118. On December 12, 2017, Dr. Prosch-Jensen responded to the Parents' request for 
clarification and additional explanation regarding portions of her Final Program 
Recommendations for the Student. P22pp1-5. Dr. Prosch-Jensen produced what sh13 identified 
as her "Appendix A to Report ·12-17-17." J'.21. !n her appendix, Or. Prosch-Jensen respc;ided to 
each of the questions raised by the Parents. 

i 19. In a PWN dated January 26, 2018, the District proposed to contact Or. Kathleen Kinney 
to discuss Or. Kinney's evaluation of the Student's vision, which was conducted on November 30, 
2017, and provid9d to the District on January 21, 20i 8. J24, P27pp19-2·1; Myatich, T1340. 
Despite Dr. Myatich's attempts to contact Dr. Kinney, she never received any response. Id. at 
T1341. 

120. On February 27, 2018, the Parents filed their Due Process Hearing Request. 

The Student's Seizure Emeroe.D£ll.Care Plans ECPs) 

121. For many years while the Student attended school in the District, she required the 
presence of one of !he Parents or a school nurse on the bus to and from school in case she had 
a seizure on the bus. 

·1 22. For the 2016-2017 school year, Dr. Vlcek cleared the Student to ride the school bus with 
a non-nurse paraeducator as a "second set of eyes" to alert the driver if the Student had a seizure 
on the bus. J27p1 (ECP dated and signed May 2016 and August 2016). The requirement for a 
second set of eyes on the bus was continued to a second ECP. J28p1 (ECP dated September 
2016 but unsigned}. 
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123. To date, it remains Dr. Vlcek's medical opinion that in addition to the bus driver, the 
Student requires only the presence of a responsible adult on the bus in order to alert the driver in 
the event the Student has a seizure on the bus.. Vlcek, T70. If the Student has a seizure on the 
ous, the responsible adult would call 91 "1, and Jpon arrival, a paramedic could administer the 
Student's Diastat. / d. at T70-T71 . 

124. Another ECP, also dated September 2016 but unsigned, had no Ian~ uage regarding any 
r onditions about the Student riding the bus. J29. 

125. In an ECP signed and dated by a District school nurse on December 12, 2017, and signed 
and dated bv one of tile Student's trea1ing neurologists on January 2, 2cm, there is no language 
at all regarding any conditions when the Student rides the school bus. ee ,J30 {signed by nurse) 
and P34 (signed by neurologist). 

126. In an unsigned ECP dated January 16, 2018, language reappears which requires a nurse 
or trained parent-designated adult (PDA) to be available at all times, including riding the bus to 
and from school and during off campus field trips. J31, P32. This ECP includes as part of the 
3eizure Plan that, in the event of a seizure, a nurse or PDA would "Administer Diastat or f\Jasal 
Midazolam per MD orders." !d. at pp."1. Or. Vlcek has never approved tile use of Nasal Midazolam 
with the Student. The Parents received this ECP during February 2018. 

127. The Parents were concerned about the changes to the Student's ECPs and contacted Or. 
~ 1yatich. Di. Myatich offered to schedule a conference call to address the Parents' concerns. 
028. On March 8, 20"18, the Mother participated in a telephone conference call with Dr. Vlcek, 
District Nurse Shetley Sags, and District SLP Noreen Bucknum. D30, P35, P36p1. The r1.1othe ;­
believed her conc9rns regarding the Student's ECP were addressed during the call. Mother, 
T12'19. 

128. Although ihe District determined it 'NOuld retain the requirement in the Student's ECP that 
a nurse be present on the bus with the Student, apart from that Dr. Vlcek agreed with the ECP 
developed after tl1e conrerence call. Vlcek, T70; P36pp3-5, J32, J25pp3-4. 

129. fn a letter To Whom It May Concern dated March 15, 20'18, Dr. Vlcek confirmed his opinion 
that the Student required a "responsible adult'' on her school bus in order to alert the driver if the 
Student had a seizure. P31p39. 

130. Finally, an unsigned ECP dated March 2018 requires a nurse to be present 011 the 
Student's bus. There is no mention of any PDA and no mention of using Nasal Midazolam, J32, 
J25pp3-4. 

131. In a PWN dated April 16, 20i 8, the District informed the Parents, in part, that it disaoreed 
with Dr. Vlcek, and assigned a nurse, not another responsible adult, to ride the Student's bus. 
031. 

132. Of note, Dr. Vlcek is concerned tllat the District included the requirement for a nurse to be 
present on the bus with the Student in order to create a reason why the Student could not be 
placed at a private school, specifically the Dolan Learning Center. Vlcek, T68. How Dr. Vlcek 
came to this opinion is not clear from the record, but it reflects poorly on Dr. Vlcek's credibility. 
Why Dr. Vlcek would have any belief or concern that the District was purposely trying to prevent 
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the Student from attending the Dolan Learning Center by fabricating unjustifiable medical 
restrictions would appear to be the product of some unknown animus for the District Whatever 
the source of such animus, it greatly detracts from Dr. Vlcek's objectivity, and negatively affects 
his other testimony regarding his beliefs or opinions concerning the District and the District's 
provision of an education for the Student. 

Examinatior: of Expert Testimonv 

i 33. Dr. Prosch-Jensen is verv familiar with MIHS anJ knowcl m6ny of the staff very wt::11 based 
upon her 18 years of providing consultation and training for District staff. She had been in MIHS 
several times over t11e year leading up to the due process hearing. She is very familiar with Ms. 
Riccio, the BCB.ll. at MIHS. Dr. Prosch-Jensen in fact supervised Ms. Riccio during her internship 
~or her 8CBA. Id. at T1073. It is Dr. Prosch-Jensen's opinion that her recommendations for the 
Student's educational program can be implemented at MIHS. Id. a.t T1072-11076; See also J20, 
J23. 

134. Dr. Breiger is a neuropsycho!ogist. Medical do•.::tors, including neurologists, are not trained 
to administer or . interpret psychological or neuropsychological assessments. Educational 
recommendations for students fall within the professional expertise and the scope of practice of 
neuropsychologists. Breiger, T896-898. The District retained Dr. Breiger in part to assist the 
Di~trict in developing recommendations for the Student's educational program. Breiger, T899. 
Dr . . Breiger does not believe the Student requires a non-public-school placement in order to have 
a learning space that has few distractions. Id. at T908. 

135. Or. Uherek agraes with the recommendations for the Student's education in Or. Breiger's 
and Dr. Prosch-Jensen's reports (Uherek, T486-T491), even charact8rizing Dr. Prosch-Jensen's 
rnrx>rt .:➔s a "great job of recommending interventions" for thc Student. id. at T489. However, it is 
Dr. 1Jhcrek's opinion that a smaller environment with fewer transitions than MIHS, like the Dolan 
Learning Center, is her recommended placement for the Student. Dr. Uherak has never observed 
the District's proposed placement for the Student at MIHS, nor has she observed the Student at 
the Dolan Learning Center, although she is familiar with the physical layout of the Dolan Learning 
Center. Id. at T535-T536, T492. 

136. Dr. Vlcek's records and testimony touch only tangentially upoI1 th& issue of the Student's 
educational program and placement. Aside from a copy of Dr. Uhere:.::'s IEE (see reference to 
IJherek's IEE at P31 p30) and a copy of the MIHS schedule provided to him by the Parents, it 
appears that substantially all of Dr. Vlcek's information has come through the Parents. This 
includes any information regarding the services the Student has received and any progress she 
had made at home through SBCT, at Yellow Wood School. and at the Dolan Learning Academy, 
as we!I as any information about the District's proposed placament at MIHS. See, e.g., P31 p1 0 
(apparently some of the Student's therapists and Parents are "quite disappointed" with her 
program in the public school and feel that it does not meet her needs effectively). This results in 
Dr. Vlcek basing his opinions upon essentially second-hand information. There is no evidence to 
co,,clude Dr. Vlcek has e;ver macie observations at MIHS. ~1lyatich, T1383. 

137. Dr. Vlcek's testimony at hearlng regarding his recommendations for the Student's 
education was quite summary. He recommended ASA therapy for tlle Student based upon his 
determination that the Student demonstrated more progress developmentally given her reduced 
seizures and more ABA therapy. Vlcek, T51. HowP.ver, there is no evidence of record to find that 
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Dr. Vlcek is particularly familiar with the substance or practice of ABA therapy. Rather, Dr. Vlcek's 
testimony on this point appears much more general, more of simply a recommendation to 
continue providing what has apparently worked for the Student, rather than a careful analysis of 
why one particular methodology, like ASA, is substantively bett<,ir or more appropriate than 
another methodology for the Student. See e.g. P31 p1 0 (There will be continuation of and 'clearly 
needed" home ABA therapy 20 hours a week.). While Dr. Vlcek is clearly qualified to offer his 
expert medical opinion regarding hov, the symptoms of the Student's disabilities are expressed, 
there is nothing in the record to support Dr. Vlcek's qualifications to offer recommendations for 
the Student's education. For example, it is clearly within Dr. Vlcek's scope of medical expertise 
to offer his opinion that due to her disabilities the Student cannot be expected to focus on a given 
task for morn than 15 minutes at a time. However, it is then up to other individuals qualified by 
their education, training, and experience as professional educators to take that limitation and 
design the special instruction necessary to allow the Stud1:mt to still obtain an educational benefit 
by, for instance, specially designing the Student's educational program so that no one 
instructional task exceeds 15 minutes. After consideration of ail the evidence of record, it is found 
tlut Dr. V!cek's opinions regarding the Student's education in the District do not \varrant 
substantial wei ht. 

·138. After careful review and consideration of the expert witnesses, their respective education, 
training, and experience, their source(s) of information and knowledge, as well as the 
persuasiveness and logical consistency of their testimony, the recommendations for the Student's 
educational program in Dr. Prosch-Jensen's tinal report { See J20) are adopted as findings of fact 
herein. It is also found as fact that the Student's IEP can be implemented at MIHS. See J23. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

The IDEA and Jurisdiction 

1. The Office of Administrative HearinQs (OAH) has jurisdiction over the parties and subject
matter of this action for the Superintendent of Public Instruction as authorized by 20 United States
Cod3 (USC) §'1400 at seq., the Individuals with Dissbilities Education Act {IDEA), Chapter
28A. i !.i5 Revised Code of Washington {RC'N) , Chapter 34.05 RCW, Chapter 34.12 RCW, and
the regulations promulgated thereunder, including 34 Code at Federal Regulations (CFR) Part
300, ancJ Chapter 392-1721\ Washington Administrative Code (vVi-•,C). 

 
 

 
 
 

:2. The burden of proof in an administrative hearing under the IDEA is on the party seel<ing 
·e!ief, in this case the Parents. Schatferv. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S. Ct. 528 (2005). 

3. The IDEA and its implementing regulations provide federal money to assist state and loca! 
agencies in educating children with disabilities, and condition such funding upon a state's 
compliance with extensive goals and procedures. In Bd. of Educ. of Hendrick Hudson Central 
Sch. Dist. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 102 S. Ct. 3034 (1982) (Rowley), the Supreme Court 
established both a procedural and a substantive test to evaluate a state's compliance with the 
/\ct, as follows: 

First, has the state complied with the procedures set forth in the Act? And second, 
is the individualized educational program developed through the Act's procedures 
reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational benefits? If these 



requirements are met, the State has complied with the obligations imposed by 
Congress and the courts can require no more. 

Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206·207 (footnotes omitted). For a school district to provide FAPE, it is not 
required to provide a "potential-maximizing" education, but rather a "basic floor of opportunity." 
Rowley, 458 U.S. at 200 - 201. 

4. The Supreme Court recently clarified the substantive portion of the Rowley test quoted 
above: 

To meet its substantive obligation under the IDEA, a school must offer an IEP 
reasonably calculated to enable a child to make progress appropriate in light of the 
child's circumstances. . . [H)is aducational program must be appropriately 
ambitious in light of his circumstances ... 

Endre v F. v. Douglas County Sch. Dist. RE-1, 580 U.S. __ , 137 S. Ct. 988, 999-1000 {2017). 
The Ninth Circuit has explained the Endrew F. standard as follows: 

In other words, the scl100! must implement an IEP that is reasonably calculated to 
remediate and, if appropriate, accommodate the child's disabilities so that the child 
can "make progress in the general education curriculum," 137 S. Ct. at 994 (citation 
omitted), taking lnto account the progress of his non-disabled peers, and the child's 
potential. 

M. C. v. Antelope Valley Union High Sch. Dist., 858 F .3d 1189, 1201 (9111 Cir.), ce11. denied, 583 
U.S. __ , 138 S. Ct. 556 (2017). 

5. Procedural safeguards are e;:)$entlal under the IDEA. The Ninth Circuit has stated: 

Among the most important procedural safeguards are those that protect the 
parents' right to be involved in the development of their child's educational plan. 
Parents not only represent the best interests of their child in the lEP deve!opmenl 
process, they also provide information about the child critical to developing a 
comprehensive IEP and which only they are in a position to know. 

Amand3 J. v. CIEJ.rk County Sch. Dist., 267 F.3d 877,882 (91
" Cir. 2001). 

·rhe Aoril 2016 IEP Amendment 

6. The Parents first argue that ihe April 2016 I EP Amendment did not accurat~lv determin6 
the Student's PLOPs based upon data or goal-progress reports the Parents wero finally given in 
October 2017. However, it is conclucled that there was no meaningful examiriation of any 
evidence produced at hearing by the Parents to establish the PLOPs in the April 2016 amendrnenl 
were not accurate based upon the da1a and goal prograss reports they finally received in 2017. 
=lather, the Parents spent very considerable time at hearing taking the testimo,1y of Ms. Kakach 
and Ms. Funk in an attempt to establish the PLOPs in the April 2016 amendment were not 
accurate based upcm svidence other than the data and goal-progress reports the Parents 
received in October 2017. It is therefore concluded that the Parents have not proven by a 
preponderance of credible evidence that the PLOPs in the April 20'16 IEP Amendment were any 
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way inaccurate based upon the data or goal-progress reports they finally received in October 
2017. 

7. The Parents next argue that the April 2016 IEP Amendment did not include appropriate 
goals based on the Student's academic needs and PLOPs. This is a legally distinct issue from 
the issue discussed above because it expands the possible use of evidence beyond just the data 
and goal progress reports the Parents received in October 2017. With respect to this issue, the 
Parents attempted to prove, principally through the testimony of Ms. Kakach and Ms. Funk, that 
the PLOPs and goals in the April 2016 amendment were not accurate or appropriate by a 
comparison of those PLOPs and goals to the PLOPs and goals they were working on with the 
Student through her in-home ABA program with SBCT. However, as determined in the Findings 
of Fact, this attempted comparison falls woefully short. The PLOPs and goals in the April 2016 
IEP Amendment and in the SBCT program were not similar enough for meaningful comparison. 
Through no fault of their ovm, Ms. Kakach and Ms. Funk were confronted with an attempt to 
compare PLOPs and goals that, while at times may have shared some characteristics or qualities, 
were too dissimilar for compelling factual comparison. Much of the remainders of their testimony 
were off-the-cuff estimates based upon their recollections. This was particularly discomforting 
given the Parents' oft-expressed desire for the ''raw data" they asserted the District was required 
•o produce to justify any of its decisions or actions. It is concluded that the Parents have not 
established by a preponderance of credible svidence that the PLOPs and goals in the April 2016 
IEP Amendment were not appropriate for the Student. 

8. Although not expressly identified as an issue, the Parents also argued in their closing brief 
that the PLPOs and goals were not appropriate because the IEP team dld not seek or rer::eive 
input from the Student's in-home ABA program through SBCT. Citing W.G. v. Bd. of Trustees of 
target Range Sch. Dist. No. 23, 960 F.2d 1479 (9th Cir. 1992) and Shapiro ex ref. Shapiro v. 
r:Jaradise Valley UnifiedSch. Dist. No. 69, 317 F.3d i072 (91h Cir. 2003), the Parents argue that 
the District violated the IDEA and denied the Student FAPE because the IEP team did not ensure 
participation from individuals from the SBCT ABA program who were knowledgeable about the 
Student when it amended the Student's IEP. The undersigned respectfully disagrees with the 
Parents' reliance on these casas. Fundamentally, SBCT is not a private school in which the 
Student was enrolled. SBCT provided specific therapy services to the Student at her home. 
There were no peers, general edusation or special education, at the Student's home. There is no 
evidence to find SBCT could ever have awarded the Student a diploma or graduated the Student. 
The thernpy providers were not ce1iificated teachers. SBCT is much more accurately described 
as a service provider than a private school. Accepting the Parents' argument that the IEP team 
violaied the IDEA by not inviting the SBCT provider(s) or supervisor to the IEP meetinq wouid 
logically lead to the conclusion tl1at every outside service provider of any student eligible for 
special education must be consulted or invited to an iEP meeting. The cases cited by the Parents 
do net establish such a duty for IEP teams. 

9. The Parents next argue that the April 2016 IEP Amendment denied tha Student FAPE 
':>eca.use it reduced her time in general education classes, thereby denying the Student 
meaningful inclusion. This argument must also fail. The April 2016 amendment applied to periods 
of time at both IMS and MlHS. 

10. With respect to the remainder of the 2015-2016 school year, the amendment did not 
change the amount of time the Student spent in general education. Before and after the 
amendment, the Student spent 550 minutes per week in general education. With respect to that 
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part of the following 2016-2107 school year covered by the amendment when the Student would 
move up to MIHS for ninth grade, the April 2016 IEP Amendment actually increasedthe Student's 
time in general education by 77.5 minutes per week, as well as increasing the percentage of time 
the Student would spend in general education from 32.64% at IMS to 33.47% at MIHS. It is 
concluded the Parents have not proven that the April 2016 lf.:P Amendment violated the IDEA or 
denied the Student FAPE. 

The November 2016 !EP 

ii. The Parents first argue that the November 2016 IEP did not accurately determine the 
Student's PLOPs based on the Student's October 2016 reevaluation. It is very difficult to 
determine in what manner the Parents believe the October 2016 reevaluation 1s inappropriate or 
does not provide accurate information upon which to base the PLOPz in the November 2016 IEP. 
The Parents' Closing Brief cites to the 2016 reevaluation only once. Parents' Closing Brief, p. 21. 
Absent a more express argument or clearer explanation from the Parents, it would not be proper, 
3.nd the undersigned will riot sua sponte attempt to speculate, in what manner the Parents believe 
the 2016 rnevaluatlon led to inaccurate PLOPs in the November 2016 IEP. 

12. The Parents next argue thqt the goals in the November 2016 IEP are not appropriate 
based ori tha Student's academic needs and accurate PLOPs. This argument is rnore expansive 
than the Parents' first argument regarding the November 2016 JEP. To any extent the Parents 
rely upon the testimony of Ms. Kakach or Ms. Funk to prove the goals are not appropriate, that 
argument has already besn considered and rejected. Ms. Kenyon developed the goals in part 
IJased upon her very timited opportunity to interact with. instruct, and observe the Student for only 
'3 hours per week on Fridays. However, any inaccuracy caused by Ms. Kenyon's limited contact 
with the Student ia properly attributable to the Parents' unilateral decision to hold the Student out 
or schcol. Even if tha Parents could establish a violation based upon Ms. l<enyon's goals, which 
they have not, ,10 equitable remedy would be awarded for a violation caused overwhelmingly by 
their own actions. Ms. l<enyon also based her goals on input from staff at Yellow Wood School. 
No one from Yellow Wood School appeared as a witness at the due process hearing. Without 
testimony from someone with personal knowledge, the limited documentation from Yellow Wood 
Schooi (P38) does not sufticiently "speak for itself" to make a finding of fact. The Parents also 
argue that Dr. Vlcok's opinion supports a finding that the Studeni's IEP should have included 20 
l1ours per week of ABA services in order to provide the Student FAPE, referancing the September 
6, 2016 statement in his notes that there will be continuation of clearly needed home ABA therapy 
20 hours per week. Dr. Vlcek's opinion testimony has already been considered at length. His 
statement or opinion regarding the Student's need for and quantity of ABA services is not 
compelling. ASA is an educational methodology or instructional tool. While Dr. Vlcek ls 
undoubtedly qualified to offer a medical opinion, there is nothing of record upon which to conclude 
he has any significsnt education, training or experience as a professional educator. There is an 
old =idage in S!)ecial education: physicians do not prescribe special education. 

·r3_ The Parents next argue that the November 2016 IEP did not offer the Student an 
appropriate educational placement. However, this argument is not clearly articulated in the 
Par,3nts' Cl0sing Brief. The Brief identifies what the Parents believe are procedural errors in the 
formation of the IEP, which have already been addressed ad nacessary above. After careful 
reviiilw of all the evidence regarding the November 2016 IEP, it is concluded that the Parents have 
not proven by a preponderance of credible evidence that the IEP denied the Student FAPE, and 
did not deny the Student an appropriate educational placement. 
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The October 2017 Reevaluation 

14. The October 2017 reevaluation of the Student was perhaps the most highly litigated 
element of the due process hearing. The Parents finally articulated their disagreements with the 
reevaluation in a 28-page dissenting opinion authored by their counsel nearly six months after the 
reevaluation meeting. The common theme underlying most of the dissenting opinion is that the 
reevaluation must include verbatim entire evaluation reports, such as Dr. Uherek's IEE report, in 
order for the evaluation to be legally appropriate under the IDEA. See Parents' Closing Brle1, p. 
32, citing to J19p45 (Parents believe the District's Evaluation Report. ... must include Dr. Uherek's 
complete evaluation). There is simply no such requirement under the IDEA. An evaluation report 
must be sufficient in scope to develop an IEP, and at a minimum, must include a statement of 
whether the student has a disability that meets the eligibility criteria, a discussion of the 
assessments and review of data that supports the conclusion regarding eligibility, how the 
student's disability affects the student's involvement and progress in the general education 
curriculum, the recommended special education and related services needed by the student, and 
other information determined through the evaluation process and parental input needed to 
develop an IEP. WAC 392-i72A-03035. Nothing more is required under the law. The Parents' 
belief to the contrary 1s not persuasive. 

15. The Parents argue broadly that the reevaluation team ignored all the data, conclusions, 
and recommendations of Dr. Uherek, Dr. Vlcek, and tha Student's teachers with SBCT, Yellow 
Wead School, and Dolan Learning Center. Parents' Closing Brief, p36. This argument does not 
hold up under scrutiny. Both the exhibits of rncord and the testimony of multiple witnesses 
manifestlv refute this argument. lt is the quite apparent perspective of the Parents that unless the 
reevaluation team changed the reevaluation report to reflect v;hat the Pe.rents wanted it to say, 
:he taam had not considered the data, conclusions, or opinions of the Parents and their experts. 
The Mother stated as much during her testimony. Although they am mandatory members of e 
reevaluation team, parents do not have veto power over the contents of the reevaiuation report, 
or ths eligibility determinatior. 

13. The reports from and opinions of the Parents, Or. Uherek, Dr. Vlcek, Ms. Kakach, Ms . 
.-unk, Dr. Breiger, Dr. Prosch-Jensen, Dr. Myatich, and Ms. Kenyon2:i 

2 ' This lisc does not include every individual who testified at the due process hearing. However, these are 
the individuals 1.vho are the most relev2.nt and material of the witnesses v,ho appeared with respect to the 
evidence that is necessary to resolve the issues that must be addressed. 

have all been reviewed and 
considered at length by the undersigned and are reflected in the above Findings of Fact The 
credibility and weight of the evidence fror-i all these sources has been carefully discussed. With 
two exceptions discussed below, it is concluded that the Parents have not proved by a 
preponderance of credible evidence that the October 20·17 Revaluation was not appropriate or 
denied the Student FAPE. 

17. The Parents raise two arguments regarding the evaluation th~t merit further consideration. 
t-irst, the Parents argue that District violated lhe appiicable regulation for completion of an 
evaluation. In Washington State, once a school district receives parental consent, it must 
complete a reevaluation within 35 school days. WAC 392-172A-03015(3)(a). The District 
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received the consent form signed by one of the Parents on May 16, 2017. The reevaluation 
meeting was not held until October 11, 2017, or a total of 48 school days later. Therefore, the 
reevaluation was completed 13 school days late. This is a procedural violation of the IDEA. 
However, not every procedural violation warrants a remedy. 

18. Procedural violations of the IDEA amount to a denial of FAPE, and therefore warrant a 
remedy, only if they: 

{!) impeded the child's righi to a tree appropriate public education; 
(II} significantly impeded the parents' opportunity to participate in the decision making 
process regarding the provision of ~ tree appropriate public education to the parents' 
child; or 
(Ill) caused a deprivation of aducational benefits. 

WAC 392-172A-05105(2}. See also34 CFR §300.513; 20 USC §1415(f)(3)(E)(ii). 

19. The Parents have not prese!1ted evidence to supJJort their assertion this delay denied them 
their right to meaningfully participate in H1e Student's reevaluation. The Parents were present 
and participated in the meeting along with Dr. Uherek. This is not a situation where the Parents 
did not attend the reevaluation meeting. Tl"1ey had tl1e opportunity to provide input. However 
they perceived the team as not considering what they had to say because, ultimately, the team 
did not agree with the Parents. Consideration of parental input does not require acquiescence to 
parental input. It is concluded that the Parents have not proven the District's procedural violation 
in holding the IEP meeting 13 school days late significantly impeded their right to participate in 
making decisions regarding the November 2J-i7 reevaluation of the Student. In addition, having 
found there is not sufficient evidence to conclude the reevaluation substantively denied the 
Student FAPE or denied the Student an educational benefit, it is concluded tha; no remedy 1Nill 
be awarded to the Parents for this procedtJi'al violation. 

20. The Parents also argue that the reevaluation team failed to consider the results and 
recommendations from Dr. Uherek's IEE and the Studant's teachers from the Ool:in Learninr1 
Center, Yellow Wood School, and providers at SBCT. To any exteni these claims have n~t 
already been addressed above, it is concluded that the Parents have not proven them by a 
pieponderance of credible evidence. The record is extraordinarily clear that the reevaluation team 
considered all sources oi information it was required to consider. The fact that the team ultimatelr 
disagreed with the Parents is not proof these sources of information were not considered by the 
team. 

21. The Parents also argue thev were den:ed meaningful participation in the decision-making 
process because they did not receive lEP goals progress reports for the April 2016 IEP 
Amendment or the November 2016 IEP until Oct.ober 2017. This is incouect. The Mother 
admitted at hearing the Parents timely received these !EP goal progress reports. It was not the 
IEP goal progress reports that the Parents wanted but did not timely receive. It was what they 
characterized as the underlying raw data suppoitii1g the goal progress reports that they wanted. 
However, other than summarily asserting that their lac!< of this raw data prevented them from 
enjoying meaningful participation, the Parents have not specifically articulated how the lack of any 
such raw data hindered them. The Parent have not established through evidence of record that 
they have any particular education, training, or experience that would provide them any special 
insight, skill, or ability to somahow cull meaningful information from any such raw data. The 
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• 

Parents were timely provided with IEP goal progress reports and have not proven in any 
substantive manner that their lack of any raw data denied them the opportunity to meaningfully 
participate in the decision-making process for the Student. 

The 2017 IEP 

22. The Parents' fundamental argument to attempt to prove the Student's 2017 IEP is not 
appropriate is that the Student had not attended school in the District since 2016, and therefore 
the Distrlct staff who drafted the IEP did not have information about the Student's PLOPs or 
progress at the Dolan Learning Center since she last attended school in the District. This 
argument cannot stand scrutiny in light of the conclusion that the Parents have failed to prove the 
October 2017 reevaluation is not appropriate. That reevaluation, completed all of one month 
before the November 2017 IEP, considered a tremendous amount of timely data provided through 
the evaluations and reports of particularly Dr. Uherek, Dr. Breiger, and Dr. Prosch-Jensen. The 
information regarding the Student and the impact of her disabilities on her ability to receive an 
educational benefit, and the recommendations for her educational program and placement from 
these evaluations and reports, did not suddenly all become stale overnight. Tellingly, Dr. Uherek, 
Dr. Breiger, and Dr. Prosch-Jensen's recommendations for the elements of the Student's 
educational proaram, which is reflected in a student's IEP, are quite uniformly consistent with one 
exception - where those elements of the Student's educational program will be implemented: 
Ml HS or the Dolan Learning Center. 

23. Having concluded that the October 2017 reevaluation has not been proven inaccurate or 
inappropriate, the argument that the Student's PLOPs developed one montt1 later for the IEP and 
based upon the reevaluation report were not accurate is without merit. An express purpose of an 
evaluation or reevaluation !s to recommend the special education and related services rn=:eded by 
a student. WAC 392-172A-03035(1 )(d). Thal is precisely what the October 2017 reevaiuation 
report provided for the November 2017 IEP. The Parents' reliance on the testimony of ti1e 
v;1tnesses who wera working with the Student at the Dolan Learning Center, Adrienne Litman and 
l<assi Picchi, is very misolaced. The testimony of those witnesses does not appear in the Findings 
of Fact because their testimony was not found to be reliable, compelling, or persuasive. It was 
intentionally disregarded in favor of the essentially contemporaneous evaluations and reports of 
tile same professionals identified above who contriblJted to the October 2017 reevaluation. 

24. It is concludsd that the Parents have not proven by a preponderance of credible e·Jidence 
that the Student's Movember 2017 IEP did not accurately determine the Student's PLOPs and did 
not provide appropl'iately ambitious goals in light of the Student's circumstances. lt is concluded 
that the November 2017 IEP offered the Student FAPE. 

25. The final and critical issue remaining for the Student is where her November 2017 IEP 
should be implemented. That determination ~,ad largely been made based upon the Findings 0 1 

Fact. Dr. Uherek opined the appropriate placement for the Student is at Dolan Learning Center. 
While Dr. Vlcek concurs with Dr. Uherek;s opinion for the Student's placement, his opinion is given 
less weight for all the rclasons already addressed above. Dr. Breiger, Dr. Myatich and most 
especially Dr. Prosch-Jensen have all opined the Student's November 2017 IEP can be 
successfully implemented at MIHS. Of all these well-trained and very experienced professionals, 
the unique combination of qualifications and experience possessed by Dr. Prosch-Jensen is 
particularly compelling. Dr. Prosch-Jensen has years of experience with the Student dating back 
to elementary school in the District. She had the opportunity to observe the Student across more 
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environments - at the District, Yellow Wood School, Dolan Learning Center, and at home in the 
SBCT therapy - than any of the other expert witnesses. Her doctorate-level ABA certification 
provides her with a far superior frame of reference to opine on the appropriate use of ABA with 
the Student. The reports she prepared and her testimony at hearing were extraordinarily 
compelling and persuasive. It is concluded that the opinion of Dr. Prosch-Jensen, supported by 
the expert opinions of Dr. Breiger and Dr. Myatich, that the Student's lEP can be successfully 
implemented at MIHS carries more weight than the opposing opinions. Accordingly, it is 
concluded that the Student's November 2017 IEP and placement at MIHS are appropriate and 
provide the Student with FAPE. 

26. In concluding that the District has offered the Student FAPE through the lEPs the teams 
have developed along with placement at MIHS, there is no legal reason to consider the 
appropriateness of either the services provided by the Parents through SBCT, or at Yellow Wood 
School and the Dolan Leaming Center, or the appropriateness of their requested prospective 
placement of the Student at the Dolan Learning Center. 

The Student's Seizure Erner enc Care l:_lans (ECl:fil. 

27. The Parents were concerned over the contents of the ECP they received in February 2018 
for two reasons. First, it required a nurse or trained PDA to ride the bus with the Student Second, 
it referenced use of Dlastat or Nasal Midazolam in the event the Student had a seizure. Dr. ·vicek 
has never authorized the use of Nasal Midazolam to treat the Student's seizures. The lviother 
contacted Ms. Myatich, who arranged a conference call with Dr. Vlcek and District staff on March 
8, 2018. After the call, final revisions were made to the ECP, eliminating any reference to use of 
Nasal Mldazolam, but retaining the requirement that a nurse be present on the Student's bus. 
Apart from the requirement for a nurse, Dr. Vlcek was satisfied with the final ECP. 

28. The remaining issue then is the District requirement that a nurse oe present on the bus 
with the Student. In Dr. Vk:ek's opinion, all that is necessary is to have a responsible adult on the 
bus with the Student. Under the IDEA, selection of staff is a decision generally left to a school 
district. Unless only one particular individual is capable of providing ~ha ;;;arvices a student 
~equires to receive FAPE, school districts retain the right to select staff to provide instructio:1 and 
services to a student eligible for special education. For example, so long as a classroom teacher 
i;; properly qualified, the IDEA does not provide any authority for parent$ to request one teacher 
over another teacher. Yuba City Unmed School Distriat, 114 LAP 17835 (SEA CA 2014), aff'd, 
Swanson v. Yuba City School mstrict, 68 IDELR 215 (E.D. Cal. 2t)16) (Addressing issue of 
parent's preference for one nurse over another nurse where there were no unique circumstances 
to support parent's preference). 

29. After review of the record, it is concluded that the District's decision to require a school 
nurse on the Student's bus falls within a school district's discretion vis-a-vis staff selection and 
assignment. Clearly, there is no question that a school nurse would be a responsible adult, which 
is consistent with Dr. Vlcek's medical opinion. That a school nurse would be more qualified than 
n non-nurse respcmsible adult does not alter this conclusion. It is also concluded that Dr. Vlcek's 
expressed concern that the District included the requirement for a nurse on the Student's bus in 
order to create a reason why the Student could not be placed at the Dolan Learning Center is 
without any support in the record. 
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Parents' Requests for Reimbursement and Prospective Placement 

30. The Parents have requested reimbursement for educational expenses they have incurred 
for services they provided the Student at Yellow Wood School, the Dolan Learning Center, and 
through SBCT. The requested remedies must be denied. Having concluded that the District did 
not violate the IDEA in any manner to warrant the award of a remedy and that the District offered 
the Student FAPE through the IEPs the teams have developed with placement at MIHS, there is 
no legal basis for reimbursement. 

31. All arguments made by the parties have been considered. Arguments not specifically 
addressed herein have been considered, but are found not to be persuasive or not to substantially 
affect a party's rights. 

ORDER 

The Mercer Island School District has not violated the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act, or such violations do not warrant any remedy. The Mercer Island School District 
has not denied the Student a free appropriate public education. The Parents' requested remedies 
are denied. 

Signed at Seattle, Washington on January 16, 2019. 

MATTHEW D. WACKER 
Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 

Right To Bring A Civil Action Under The IDEA 

Pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 1415(i)(2), any party aggrieved by this final decision may appeal by 
filing a civil action in a state superior court or federal district court of the United States. The civil 
action must be brought within ninety days after the ALJ has mailed this final decision to the parties. 
The civil action must be filed and served upon all parties of record in the manner prescribed by 
the applicable local state or federal rules of civil procedure. A copy of the civil action must be 
provided to OSPI, Administrative Resource Services. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that I mailed a copy of this order to the within•named interested parties at their 
respective addresses postage prepaid on the date stated herein.~ 

Jeannette A. Cohen, Attorney at Law 
2223 1121t• Avenue NE Suite 202 
Bellevue, WA 98004 

Lindsay Myatich, Director of Special Education 
Mercer Island School District 
4160 86th Avenue SE 
Mercer Island, WA 98040-4121 

Carlos Chavez, Attorney at Law 
Pacifica Law Group LLP 
1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 
Seattle, WA 98101 

cc: Administrative Resource Services, OSPI 
Matthew D. Wacker, Senior ALJ, OAH/OSPI Caseload Coordinator 
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